THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-26-07411

(Appellate Case No. 2020-000092)

Jimmy A. Richardson, II, Solicitor for the 15th Judicial Circuit,
on Behalf of the 15th Circuit Drug Enforcement Unit,

Appellant,

v.

Twenty Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy-One and 00/100 Dollars
(\$20,771.00), U.S. Currency and Travis Green,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James R. Battle
S.C. Bar No. 73604
Battle Law Firm, LLC
PO Box 530
Conway, SC 29528
T: 843-248-4321
F: 843-248-4512
jbattle@battlelawsc.com

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

Jul 24 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER S.C.'S FORFEITURE STATUTES FACIALLY VIOLATE THE 8TH AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 15 OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION BY VIOLATING THE EXCESSIVE FINES CLAUSE?

2. WHETHER S.C.'S FORFEITURE STATUTES FACIALLY VIOLATE DUE PROCESS UNDER THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 3 OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION BY PLACING A BURDEN ON DEFENDANTS?

3. WHETHER S.C.'S FORFEITURE STATUTES FACIALLY VIOLATE DUE PROCESS UNDER THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 3 OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION BY DIRECTING THE MAJORITY OF FORFEITURE PROCEEDS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT?

4. WHETHER POST-SEIZURE JUDICIAL REVIEW UNDER S.C.'S FORFEITURE STATUTES FACIALLY VIOLATES DUE PROCESS UNDER THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 3 OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2017, Appellant Solicitor Richardson filed the instant forfeiture petition. (R. p. 21).

On January 9, 2018, Respondent Travis Green answered the forfeiture petition. (R. p. 25).

On March 25, 2019, Solicitor Richardson filed the first appeal of this case, and on May 13, 2019, this Court dismissed the appeal due to the trial court withdrawing its administrative order. (R. p. 1).

On August 28, 2019, the Honorable Steven H. John ruled S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes facially unconstitutional and denied the forfeiture in the instant case. (R. p. 3).

On September 4, 2019, Solicitor Richardson filed a motion for Judge John to alter or amend his Order. (R. p. 50). On October 7, 2019, Green's attorney filed a response (R. p. 57),

and on December 6, 2019, Judge John heard oral argument from the parties. At oral argument, Judge John stated:

The Court's decision in this matter, as both the petitioner and respondent have argued, is that the order is facially based. It's not an application-based decision. It is not based on what the law enforcement agency or Mr. Green did or didn't do in this matter. It is an examination of the statute of the State of South Carolina, the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court, and whether or not this statute is constitutional on a facial basis.

(R. p. 46, lines 14-21).

On December 23, 2019, Judge John denied Solicitor Richardson's motion and reaffirmed his Order. (R. p. 18).

On January 20, 2020, Solicitor Richardson filed a timely notice of appeal of Judge John's Order.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The below facts were consented to by the parties and filed with the trial court. (R. p. 67).

In the fall of 2017, Officer Freddy Curry with the 15th Circuit Drug Enforcement Unit ("DEU") received intelligence that Respondent Travis Green was selling large quantities of illegal drugs in the Myrtle Beach area. On September 26, 2017, Curry utilized a confidential informant ("CI") to purchase 7 grams of cocaine from Green for \$350.00. On October 13, 2017, Curry utilized a CI to purchase 14 grams of cocaine from Green for \$700.00. On October 25, 2017, Curry utilized a CI to purchase 7 grams of cocaine from Green for \$350.00.

To make these controlled purchases, the CI called Green, arranged a meet location, and then made the exchange at the agreed location. For the last controlled purchase, officers observed Green leave his residence in Myrtle Beach, drive to the location, make the exchange, and then drive back to his residence.

Based on these controlled buys, Curry obtained arrest warrants against Green for two counts of distribution of cocaine and one count of trafficking cocaine and a search warrant for his residence. On November 2, 2017, officers served Green with the arrest warrants and executed the search warrant. They found the following:

- a. 132 grams of crack-cocaine
- b. 32 grams of cocaine
- c. 319 grams of marijuana
- d. 27 Morphine tablets
- e. \$20,771.00 in U.S. Currency (\$971.00 was in Green's wallet and \$19,800.00 was in an outdoor garage closet.)
- f. 2 digital scales with white powder residue

Based on the drugs found in Green's residence, officers additionally charged Green with: (1) trafficking crack-cocaine, 2nd offense; (2) trafficking cocaine, 2nd offense; (3) possession with intent to distribute marijuana, 2nd offense; and (3) possession with intent to distribute controlled substance, 2nd offense.

On October 16, 2018, Green pled guilty to distribution of cocaine, 2nd offense, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana, 1st offense. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(b)(1), distribution of cocaine, 2nd offense, carries a penalty of 5 to 30 years' incarceration and/or a fine of up to \$50,000.00. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(b)(2), possession with intent to distribute marijuana, 1st offense, carries a penalty of 0 to 5 years' incarceration and/or a fine of up to \$5,000.00. Judge John sentenced Green to 15 years' incarceration for the cocaine charge and 5 years for the marijuana charge – both sentences to run concurrently.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court “is reluctant to find a statute unconstitutional,” and “[e]very presumption is made in favor of a statute’s constitutionality.” *Knotts v. S.C. Dept. of Natural Resources*, 348 S.C. 1, 6, 558 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2002). “A ‘legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt.’” *Id.* (quoting *Joytime Distribs. and Amusement Co., Inc. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 640, 528 S.E.2d 647, 650 (1999)).

“A facial challenge is an attack on a statute itself as opposed to a particular application.” *Doe v. State*, 421 S.C. 490, 502, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017) (internal citations omitted). “One asserting a facial challenge claims that the law is ‘invalid *in toto* – and therefore incapable of any valid application.’” *Id.* (quoting *Steggel v. Thompson*, 415 U.S. 452, 474 (1974)). “Thus, unless the statute is unconstitutional in all its applications, an as-applied challenge must be used to attack its constitutionality.” *Id.* at 503, 813 (internal quotations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes Do Not Facially Violate either the 8th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution or Article I, Section 15 of the S.C. Constitution by Violating the Excessive Fines Clause.

A. General Overview of S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes

S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes originated from the Uniform Controlled Substances Act of 1970. David R. Fine, *Bennis v. Michigan and Innocent Owners in Civil Forfeiture: Balancing Legitimate Goals with Due Process and Reasonable Expectations*, 5 Geo. Mason L. Rev. 595, 605 (1997). This was a model statute created by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws and based on federal statute 21 U.S.C. § 881. Forty-eight states adopted this statute. *Id.* The remaining two states drafted their own forfeiture statutes. *Id.*

Judge John’s Order (hereinafter “the trial court’s Order”) overturned two statutes: (1) S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-520, which lists the property subject to seizure and the process for law enforcement to make a seizure;¹ and (2) S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530, which sets forth the process for the circuit solicitor to carry out a forfeiture and the disbursement of forfeited property.

The legal process under S.C. Code § 44-53-530 is also used to carry out forfeitures under the following statutes:

- (1) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-27-55 – forfeiture of property related to the Animal Fighting and Baiting Act;
- (2) S.C. Code Ann. § 39-15-1195 – forfeiture of counterfeit goods in violation of trademarks and service marks;
- (3) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-19-80 – forfeiture of gambling proceeds; and
- (4) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-135 – forfeiture of property and funds from retail theft.

The trial court’s Order did not address how its ruling would affect these additional statutes.

S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes are *civil* asset forfeiture statutes. *See Mims Amusement Co. v. South Carolina Law Enforcement Div.*, 366 S.C. 141, 156, 621 S.E.2d 344, 351 n. 4 (2005) (“The critical difference between civil forfeiture and criminal forfeiture is the identity of the defendant.”). In civil forfeiture, the state proceeds against a thing (*rem*). *Id.* In criminal forfeiture, it proceeds against a human being (*personam*). *Id.*

S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes address the forfeiture of two types of property: (1) contraband *per se*, which is property illegal to possess, such as cocaine, heroin, and other illegal narcotics;

¹ Throughout this brief, “seizure” refers to the initial seizure of property by law enforcement, and “forfeiture” refers to a court’s adjudication of that seizure.

and (2) derivative contraband, which is property normally legal to possess, such as cash or cars, but becomes contraband when it is used for illegal purposes. *Id.* at 149, 348.

Since the passage of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-520 in 1971, the General Assembly has amended it eight times. The General Assembly has amended S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530 eleven times. In general, the Forfeiture Statutes' amendments show the General Assembly balancing the interests of narcotics enforcement and the citizens claiming an interest in seized property.

In 1984, the General Assembly passed S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-586 to give people the ability to get seized property back if they could show by a preponderance of the evidence they did not know of the property's criminal use. This statute is not mentioned in the trial court's Order.

In 2019 both houses of the legislature introduced bills which would have dramatically rewritten S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes. *See* 2019 S.B. No. 590 & 2019 H.B. No. 3968.

To date, most states, the District of Columbia, and the federal government have civil forfeiture statutes. The states which require a conviction for a forfeiture, California, Connecticut, North Carolina, Montana, Nebraska, and New Mexico, made this change through legislative amendments to their laws. These states still utilize *criminal* asset forfeiture, which ties seized property to the criminal trial and/or plea negotiations of defendants.

While it is a crime in South Carolina to possess forfeitable property under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-590, there is no criminal asset forfeiture for illegal narcotics.

B. The 8th Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause

The trial court found S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes violate the 8th Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause "by permitting the government to seize unlimited amounts of cash and other property without regard to the proportionality of the crime that may have been committed." (R.

p. 6). The trial court cited *Timbs v. Indiana*, 139 S.Ct. 682 (2019) to support its position and argued S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes “would allow law enforcement to seize millions of dollars in assets from an individual when the maximum fine authorized by law is minimal or when no crime has been committed at all.” (R. p. 7).

i. *Timbs v. Indiana* Held the 8th Amendment Applies to State Actors and Did Not Hold Civil Forfeitures Unconstitutional.

In *Timbs v. Indiana* 139 S.Ct. 682 (2019), Tyson Timbs pled guilty in Indiana state court to dealing in a controlled substance and conspiracy to commit theft. The police seized his Land Rover SUV, which he purchased for \$42,000.00 with money he received from an insurance policy after the death of his father. The police seized the Land Rover on the basis that it had been used to transport heroin.

The Indiana trial court and the Indiana Court of Appeals denied the forfeiture on the basis that it violated the 8th Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause – arguing the purchase price of the car was more than four times the fine for the crime of conviction. However, the Indiana Supreme Court reversed on the basis the 8th Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause did not apply to state actors.

Pursuant to a writ of certiorari, the U.S. Supreme overruled the Indiana Supreme Court and held the Excessive Fines Clause did apply to state actors. *Timbs*, 139 S.Ct. at 687 (“The Excessive Fines Clause is therefore incorporated by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”). There is no other holding in *Timbs*. It did not analyze the constitutionality of Indiana’s forfeiture statute, and it did not determine the underlying forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause.

South Carolina determined the Excessive Fines Clause applied to its Forfeiture Statutes in *Medlock v. One 1985 Jeep Cherokee Vin 1JCWB7828FT129001*, 322 S.C. 127, 470 S.E.2d 373 (1996).

In *Medlock*, this Court set forth the following test to determine whether a seizure violated the Excessive Fines Clause:

- (1) the nexus between the offense and the property and the extent of the property's role in the offense;
- (2) the role and the culpability of the owner; and
- (3) the possibility of separating offending property that can readily be separated from the remainder.

Id. at 132, 377; *see also Austin v. U.S.*, 509 U.S. 602, 622 (1993) (holding the Excessive Fines Clause applied to civil forfeiture but leaving it to the lower courts to develop a constitutionally excessive test). The second prong of the test, "the role and culpability of the owner," requires the trial court to consider the proportionality of the property's value to the owner's conduct.

This Court's holding in *Medlock* and the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in *Austin* show a preference for enforcing the 8th Amendment through a judicial balancing test applied on a case by case basis. *See Austin*, 509 U.S. at 622 ("Prudence dictates that we allow the lower courts to consider [the excessiveness of a fine] in the first instance.").

The trial court's Order did not mention *Medlock*, and it did not explain why or how *Timbs* rendered S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes unconstitutional. Without more, *Timbs* does not support the trial court's finding that S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes are facially unconstitutional.

ii. The Trial Court's Hypothetical Is an As-Applied Challenge to S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes.

The trial court's hypothetical, that S.C.'s Forfeiture Statutes allow law enforcement to seize millions of dollars when there is only a minimal fine, is an as-applied analysis. (R. p. 7);

see Doe, 421 S.C. at 502, 808 S.E.2d at 813 (“In an ‘as-applied’ challenge, the party challenging the constitutionality of the statute claims that the ‘application of the statute in the particular context in which he has acted, or in which he proposes to act, would be unconstitutional.”) (internal quotations omitted). However, the trial court did not apply the facts of the instant case. Instead, it used an extreme hypothetical.

If the trial court is using an as-applied challenge, then “the practical effect of holding a statute unconstitutional ‘as applied’ is to prevent its future application in a similar context, but not to render it utterly inoperative.” *Id.* at 503, 814. The trial court’s holding was “the statutory scheme [of S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes] is unconstitutional.” (R. p. 7). It cannot get there imagining extreme instances where the Excessive Fines Clause may be violated. *See Doe*, 421 S.C. at 503, 808 S.E.2d at 813 (To be successful, a facial challenge must show “the statute is unconstitutional in all its applications.”).

Moreover, if the trial court ever faced such a forfeiture petition, S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes allow the trial court to deny the forfeiture due to violating this Court’s *Medlock* test and the 8th Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause.

iii. The Amounts Subject to Seizure Are Limited by the 8th Amendment on a Case by Case Basis.

Seizures vary dramatically in the value of the property and the criminal conduct involved. The 8th Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause operates independent of statutory requirements as a barricade to the government’s punishing power. *See State v. Timbs*, 134 N.E.3d 12, 30 & 38 (Ind. 2019) (Writing on remand from the U.S. Supreme Court’s *Timbs* order, the Indiana Supreme Court noted, “[T]he Framers of our Constitution erected, in the Eighth Amendment, multiple, separate barricades against the government’s punishing

power.”). S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes are constitutional because the amounts subject to seizure are limited by the 8th Amendment on a case by case basis.

The U.S. Supreme Court’s opinion in *U.S. v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321 (1998) illustrated this point. In *Bajakajian*, federal authorities arrested Mr. Bajakajian for leaving the U.S. without declaring more than \$10,000.00 in cash. Pursuant to the federal statute, the authorities could seize “any property...involved in such an offense” and therefore, without any statutory limit, seized the full \$357,144.00 Mr. Bajakajian carried. *Id.* at 324 (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1)).

In addressing this matter, the U.S. Supreme Court did not strike down the statute. *Id.* at 336 (“The first...is that judgments about the appropriate punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature”); *see also Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 290 (1983) (Reviewing courts...should grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes.); and *Gore v. U.S.*, 357 U.S. 386, 393 (1958) (“Whatever views may be entertained regarding severity of punishment,...these are peculiarly questions of legislative policy.”).

Instead, the Court determined forfeitures violated the Excessive Fines Clause if they were “grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant’s offense” and affirmed the return of Mr. Bajakajian’s money. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 344. The “grossly disproportional” test is for the courts to apply on a case by case basis.

The Indiana Supreme Court, responding to *Timbs*, adopted the *Bajakajian* test. *State v. Timbs*, 134 N.E.3d at 35 (“Most courts addressing the excessiveness of *in rem* fines have followed *Bajakajian* in applying a gross-disproportionality standard.”). The Indiana Supreme Court now uses the following judicial test:

[T]o stay within the bounds of the 8th Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause, a use-based fine must meet two requirements: (1) the property must be actual means by which underlying offense was committed; and (2) harshness of the forfeiture penalty must not be grossly disproportional to gravity of the offense and claimant's culpability for the property's misuse.

Id. at 27.

South Carolina's Excessive Fines Clause test, found in *Medlock*, 322 S.C. 127, 470 S.E.2d 373, predates *Bajakajian* by two years. If this Court wants to update South Carolina's Excessive Fines Clause test, they should adopt the *Bajakajian* test and not strike the entire Forfeiture Statute.

C. The South Carolina Constitution

The trial court's Order also found the Forfeiture Statutes violate South Carolina Constitution, Article I, Section 15. (R. p. 6). This Section prohibits the imposition of excessive fines.

While the trial court's Order did not provide any further analysis of this State's Excessive Fines Clause, this Court applied South Carolina's Excessive Fines Clause to a statutory fine in *Singletary v. Wilson*, 191 S.C. 153, 3 S.E.2d 802 (1939).

In *Singletary*, a circuit court judge found Mr. Singletary guilty of forgery and sentenced him to 6 years' incarceration and to pay a \$300.00 fine. Mr. Singletary appealed his sentence on the basis the forgery statute was unconstitutional because it did not set a maximum fine. This Court noted, "It is generally the case that in enacting penal statutes the Legislature fixes and designates a maximum penalty, but when it is not done, the power to impose a fine is limited by the constitutional provision that excessive fines shall not be imposed." *Id.* at 153, 804. "[T]he failure of a statute to fix a maximum fine does not render it unconstitutional." *Id.* Instead, if the maximum fine is not fixed by statute, the fine "must be subject to be reviewed on appeal to this

Court, if clearly abused, under Article I, [Section 15] of the Constitution, which not only forbids the infliction of cruel and unusual punishment, but forbids the imposition of excessive fines.” *Id.*

Like the U.S. Supreme Court in *Bajakajian*, this Court chose to apply South Carolina’s Excessive Fines Clause on a case by case basis instead of striking a statute as unconstitutional.

For the above stated reasons, S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes do not violate either the 8th Amendment or the South Carolina Constitution by violating the Excessive Fines Clause.

II. S.C.’s Forfeiture Statutes Do Not Facially Violate Due Process under either the 5th and 14th Amendments of the U.S. Constitution or Article I, Section 3 of the S.C. Constitution by Placing a Burden on Defendants.

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