IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Aug 12 2020

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-26-07411

(Appellate Case No. 2020-000092)

Jimmy A. Richardson, II, Solicitor for the 15th Judicial Circuit,
on Behalf of the 15th Judicial Circuit Drug Enforcement Unit Appellant,

v.

Twenty Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy-One and 00/100 Dollars
(\$20,771.00), U.S. Currency and Travis Green Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

B. Alex Hyman
Counsel of Record
S.C. Bar No. 0075416
THE HYMAN LAW GROUP, P.A.
1208 3rd Avenue
Conway, SC, 29526
Phone: (843) 248-2024
Fax: (843) 248-3230

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530, which requires that the first \$1,000 of all cash forfeited be remitted to the seizing agency and requires that 95% of all other forfeiture proceeds be remitted to the agencies responsible for the seizure and forfeiture, violates the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the S.C. Constitution?
2. Whether South Carolina's requirement that property owners affirmatively prove "by a preponderance of the evidence that the property was innocently owned," absent any preliminary showing by the government of the owner's personal culpability, violates the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the S.C. Constitution?
3. Whether the failure of South Carolina law to provide prompt, post-seizure hearings—hearings at which owners can challenge the basis of any seizure and the continued detention of their property for the duration of the forfeiture proceeding—violates the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the S.C. Constitution?
4. Whether S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-53-520 and -530, by permitting forfeiture of property absent any showing of culpability on the part of its owner, facially violate the 8th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the S.C. Constitution?

ARGUMENT

The court below correctly held that South Carolina's forfeiture statutes are facially unconstitutional. Those statutes' plain text shows why. Section 44-53-530 states that police and prosecutors get 95% of whatever property they seize and forfeit. That same section, along with Section 44-53-586, requires owners to prove their own innocence—even when the government has put forward nothing to show those owners' personal culpability—or lose their property forever. And neither Section 44-53-520, nor any other provision in South Carolina law, mandates that owners be given prompt post-seizure hearings at which those owners can contest the seizure of their property or ask that it be returned during the pendency of the forfeiture proceeding.

Appellant claims the trial court had insufficient facts in the record to reach its holding. But the statutes tell us everything that we need to know, and they show why this Court should affirm. In Part I, Respondents detail the financial incentive spelled out in Section 44-53-530 and how it violates due process¹ by creating a serious risk that officials' enforcement decisions will be distorted by the prospect of institutional gain. In Part II, Respondents show why the burden shifting scheme laid out in Sections 44-53-530 and 44-53-586 violates binding U.S. Supreme Court precedent by forcing people in civil proceedings to prove their own innocence. In Part III, Respondents explain why, as numerous courts across the nation have held, due process requires the government to provide owners of seized property a prompt and meaningful opportunity to seek that property's immediate return. And in Part IV, Respondents demonstrate why the plain text of South Carolina law, which expressly authorizes forfeiture absent any evidence that the property's owner did anything wrong, facially violates the excessive fines protections of the Eighth Amendment and Article I, Section 15.

I. The Trial Court Correctly Held That The Financial Incentive Created By South Carolina's Forfeiture Statute—Which Requires At Least 95% Of Forfeiture Proceeds Go To Seizing Police And Prosecutors—Violates Due Process.

Due process demands that government officials be committed to serving the public interest, not their own. But South Carolina law requires that the lion's share of forfeiture proceeds be committed to the very entities responsible for the seizing and forfeiting. The first \$1,000 "of any cash seized and forfeited pursuant to this article" goes to the police agency that effectuated the seizure. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530(f). And the seizing agency must receive

¹ Because South Carolina's forfeiture statutes are unconstitutional under both the U.S. and South Carolina Constitutions, Respondents do not distinguish between the two in their brief.

75% of all other cash, securities, and other real or personal property it seized that have been forfeited and “reduced to proceeds.” The prosecuting agency that effectuated the forfeiture is entitled to 20%. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530(e). Thus, the text of the statute directs that at least 95% of the value of all forfeited property go to the very government agencies that took that property. Nothing in the statute requires that agencies report to the state how they have spent that money. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530 (requiring only that expenditures “be documented, and the documentation made available for audit purposes and upon request by a person under the . . . Freedom of Information Act”).

The trial court correctly held that this financial incentive violates the due process guarantees of the federal and state constitutions. (R. pp. 13–14). In Section A, Respondents explain how that holding is amply supported by caselaw from across the nation, including *Tumey*, *Ward*, *Harjo*, and *Flora*. And in Section B, Respondents demonstrate why Appellant is wrong in claiming that the record is devoid of facts to support that holding. The terms of South Carolina’s forfeiture statutes are clear, and their distribution of virtually all proceeds to police and prosecutors is why the trial court correctly declared them facially invalid.

A. Dedicating Forfeiture Proceeds to Police and Prosecutors Creates an Impermissible Financial Incentive That Offends Due Process.

Due process prohibits the government from establishing a system where judicial officers face a financial incentive to raise revenue through their decisions. *See, e.g., Ward v. Village of Monroeville*, 409 U.S. 57 (1972); *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510 (1927). This kind of financial incentive can involve a personal benefit—in other words, money directly into the judge’s pocket—or an institutional one. In *Ward*, for instance, a citizen charged with traffic offenses claimed that trial before the village’s mayor violated due process, since “[a] major part of village income is derived from the fines, forfeitures, costs, and fees imposed by [the mayor] in his

mayor's court." 409 U.S. at 58. The Court agreed, reasoning that even though no money went directly into the mayor's pocket, he would face institutional pressure "to maintain the high level of contribution." *Id.* at 60. Moreover, this was true no matter whether the citizen could show actual bias, as due process protects against a financial incentive that would offer "a possible temptation to the average man." *Tumey*, 273 U.S. at 532.

This same principle limits the financial incentives of police and prosecutors. *See Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc.*, 446 U.S. 238 (1980). *Marshall* concerned a Department of Labor statute meant to reimburse regional offices of the Employment Standards Administration (ESA) for costs of investigating and prosecuting child-labor violations. Those offices sent any civil penalties they collected from child-labor violations to the ESA main office. Once there, the head of the ESA could (but was not required to) send some of that money back to reimburse the regional offices for the actual costs they incurred investigating and prosecuting those violations.

The Court in *Marshall* acknowledged that due process applies to prosecutors, noting that "[a] scheme injecting a personal interest, financial or otherwise, into the enforcement process may bring irrelevant or impermissible factors into the prosecutorial decision and in some contexts raise serious constitutional questions." *Id.* at 249-50. The Court also made clear that a personal benefit is not required; due process would also be violated if the officer's "judgment will be distorted by the prospect of *institutional gain* as a result of zealous enforcement." 446 U.S. at 250 (emphasis added). And the Court stressed that this is true regardless of whether enforcement personnel are *actually* biased, so long as bias is a "realistic possibility." *Id.*

The linchpin to the Court's decision in *Marshall* was the fact that regional offices' enforcement decisions had no bearing on how much they were reimbursed. As the Court held, because it was "the national office of the ESA, and not any assistant regional administrator, that

decides how to allocate civil penalties,” those “administrators ha[d] no assurance that the penalties they assess[ed] will be returned to their offices at all.” *Id.* at 246.

This break between enforcement and funding was quite real. The amounts collected through civil penalties were relatively small; as the Court noted, “[i]n 1976, the ESA collected about \$151,000 in child labor penalties; in 1977, \$650,000; and in 1978, \$592,000.” *Id.* at 245 n.6. They made up less than one percent of the ESA’s overall budget, and the Court noted that ESA’s national office sent more money back to the Treasury as excess funds each year than it collected in civil penalties. *Id.* at 246. Moreover, during two of those years—1976 and 1978—the ESA main office sent *no* money back to the regional offices. *Id.* And when the main office did send money back in 1977, it did so “in proportion to the amounts expended on enforcement of the child labor provisions.” *Id.* As the Court stressed, “[c]ivil penalties have *never* been allotted to the regional offices on the basis of the total amount of penalties collected by particular offices.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

This break between enforcement and funding meant the scheme in *Marshall* did not raise a possibility of bias or its appearance in the Court’s eyes. By contrast, in *Young v. United States* the Court cited *Marshall* in reversing a conviction obtained by a prosecutor with improper dual loyalties, explaining that prosecutors must “be guided solely by their sense of public responsibility for the attainment of justice.” 481 U.S. 787, 814 (1987). *See also Amusement Sales, Inc. v. State*, 316 Ga. App. 727, 736, 730 S.E.2d 430, 438 (2012) (holding that due process required that private counsel hired to prosecute forfeiture actions in exchange for a percentage of any forfeited proceeds be disqualified based on conflict of interest).

Marshall shows that the greatest possibility of bias or its appearance arises when the law creates a direct link between officials’ enforcement decisions and how much money their office

takes in. And it is that direct link—that “eat what you kill” system—that led the trial court to hold that South Carolina’s forfeiture scheme violates due process by “institutionally incentiviz[ing] forfeiture officials.” (R. p. 13). The ESA scheme in *Marshall* allowed only for “reimbursement for the costs of determining violations and assessing penalties,” 446 U.S. at 239, but South Carolina’s scheme gives police and prosecutors virtually all of what they forfeit, no matter their costs. Under it, police get the first \$1,000 of all seized & forfeited cash, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530(f), and they and prosecutors share 95% of all other forfeiture proceeds. *Id.* at § 44-53-530(e); *see* (R. p. 11) (finding that “[s]urplus forfeiture funds are not remitted to the general fund and, instead, are spent by the agencies who receive the funds as their share of the statute’s profit-sharing scheme”). Nothing in South Carolina law requires these agencies to submit reports to the state indicating how they have spent these funds.

Similar forfeiture schemes have been held to violate due process. In *Harjo v. City of Albuquerque*, for instance, an ordinance established a dedicated team of police and prosecutors who seized and forfeited vehicles suspected of being involved in drunk driving. 326 F. Supp. 3d 1145 (D.N.M. 2018). Proceeds from those forfeitures went into a fund dedicated for the team’s use. Although the ordinance’s text suggested that “a central authority—the City Council and the Mayor—exercised ultimate control over the forfeiture program’s budget,” discovery showed that the City Council and Mayor had ceded that control to the team by “retroactively approv[ing] spending over the” amount the team had previously been budgeted. *Id.* at 1195. That meant that the team had direct control over their own funding, which the court held violated due process because it let the team “spend as much as it raises.” *Id.*; *see also id.* (noting that “there is a realistic possibility that the forfeiture program prosecutors’ judgment will be distorted, because

in effect, the more revenues the prosecutor raises, the more money the forfeiture program can spend”).

Likewise, in *Flora v. Southwest Iowa Narcotics Enforcement Task Force*, the court noted that Iowa Code § 809A.17 authorized law enforcement agencies and prosecutors to enter into forfeiture share agreements. 292 F. Supp. 3d 875, 905 (S.D. Iowa 2018). It reasoned that some of those agreements could satisfy due process, such as an agreement whereby agencies were reimbursed only for their actual investigative and prosecutorial costs. *Id.* But the *particular* sharing agreement at issue in *Flora*’s case *was* constitutionally problematic because it spelled out that 70% of all forfeiture proceeds had to be turned over to law enforcement, another 20% to the prosecuting agency, and only ten percent to the state treasury. *Id.* at 904.

South Carolina’s forfeiture scheme is, if anything, worse than the agreement in *Flora*. It devotes 75% of forfeiture proceeds to law enforcement, 20% to the prosecuting agency, and only five percent to the state treasury. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-530(e). And its terms are embodied in a *statute*, not a contract. *Id.* The incentive it creates is crystal clear: the more drug forfeitures South Carolina police and prosecutors undertake, the more forfeiture proceeds their offices take in. Appellant Jimmy Richardson, as 15th Judicial Circuit Solicitor, is on the board of the Drug Enforcement Unit (DEU). He and his officers decide what investigations and prosecutions to pursue. The plain text of South Carolina’s forfeiture statute pegs the amount that the DEU keeps to how much forfeiture money the DEU takes in. *See* (R. p. 12) (noting that the “amount and nature of discretionary spending, determined by officials in each agency, is necessarily based on the amount of forfeiture revenue accomplished by that agency in any given year”). To keep the money flowing in, those agencies have a strong incentive to keep seizing and forfeiting property irrespective of the merits. (R. p. 9) (noting that “forfeiture officials . . . are affected by the desire

to generate as much money as possible through the forfeiture programs”); *United States v. James Daniel Good Real Prop.*, 510 U.S. 43, 56 n.2 (1993) (noting government’s direct pecuniary interest in forfeitures, as evidenced by an Attorney General memo urging prosecutors to increase forfeitures so the Department of Justice met its annual budget target); *see also United States v. \$186,416.00 in U.S. Currency*, 590 F.3d 942, 950 (9th Cir. 2010) (“Law enforcement agencies today depend, at least in part, on the proceeds of forfeiture actions to finance their activities.”). In other words, the trial court was correct in holding that “South Carolina forfeiture programs have de facto power over their own spending” (R. p. 14).

Recent stories from around South Carolina illustrate how that power, that financial incentive at the heart of South Carolina’s forfeiture statute, has affected law-enforcement priorities.² One news series reported that, over three years, South Carolina law-enforcement agencies brought in over \$17 million in forfeiture revenue,³ over ten times more than the ESA scheme in *Marshall*. Numerous South Carolina officials have reported that their police departments rely on forfeiture revenue, meaning they have an institutional interest in keeping that money flowing. Anna Lee et al., *SC cops defend keeping cash they seize: 'What's the incentive' otherwise?*, Greenville News, Feb. 3, 2019, <https://www.greenvilleonline.com/story/news/taken/2019/02/03/sc-civil-forfeiture-police-defend-practice-say-funds-essential-law-enforcement/2746412002/> (detailing dependency of Clemson, Aiken, and Greenwood police

² Respondent cites this information to show the real-world consequences of South Carolina’s method of distributing forfeiture proceeds, not to show the unconstitutional financial incentive. That incentive is apparent from the terms of the statute itself.

³ Anna Lee et al., *TAKEN: How police departments make millions by seizing property*, Greenville News, Jan. 27, 2019, <https://www.greenvilleonline.com/in-depth/news/taken/2019/01/27/civil-forfeiture-south-carolina-police-property-seizures-taken-exclusive-investigation/2457838002/>

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